# Topological Spherical Space Forms

Ian Hambleton\*†

#### Abstract

Free actions of finite groups on spheres give rise to topological spherical space forms. The existence and classification problems for space forms have a long history in the geometry and topology of manifolds. In this article, we present a survey of some of the main results and a guide to the literature.

2000 Mathematics Subject Classification: 57S25, 53C30.

Keywords and Phrases: space forms, periodic groups.

#### Contents

1	Introduction	152
2	First steps: pre-1960	152
3	Swan complexes: 1960–1970	154
4	Semicharacteristic obstructions and 3-manifolds	156
5	Poincaré complexes	156
6	Surgery theory and stable existence	158
7	The finiteness obstruction	159
8	Space forms in the period dimension	160
9	Topological Euclidean space forms	161

<sup>\*</sup>Research partially supported by NSERC Discovery Grant A4000.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>Department of Mathematics & Statistics, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada.

10 Further topics 163

References 164

#### 1 Introduction

A Clifford-Klein space form is a closed Riemannian manifold with constant sectional curvature. A classical result in differential geometry states that space forms are just the quotients of the standard models  $\mathbb{S}^n$ ,  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\mathbb{H}^n$  for spherical, Euclidean, or hyperbolic geometry by discrete groups of isometries acting freely and properly discontinuously (see [21, Chapter 8]). The spherical space forms have now been completely classified, answering the original question of Killing [37] from 1890. Extensive information for both compact and non-compact space forms is contained in Wolf [35].

In 1926, Hopf [36] determined the fundamental groups of three-dimensional spherical space forms, and asked whether every closed, oriented 3-manifold with finite fundamental group admits a Riemannian metric of constant positive curvature. In particular, this topological question is a generalization of the famous Poincaré conjecture to the non-simply connected case. By 2005, both Hopf's question and the Poincaré conjecture were finally answered by Perelman [8], building on the Ricci flow techniques of Hamilton [54], in the process of veriflying the Thurston geometrization conjecture (see [17, 25, 29, 30]).

The topological spherical space form problem [13] generalizes Hopf's question to higher dimensions: which finite groups can act freely on spheres via homeomorphisms or diffeomorphisms? How can one classify free (smooth or topological) finite group actions on spheres? These questions have led to an enormous amount of research in algebraic and geometric topology over the last hundred years, and substantial progress has been made. However, interesting aspects of these questions are still unresolved, so we may expect future work in this fascinating area of mathematics.

The purpose of this survey is to give an overview of the current knowledge about the topological spherical space form problem, and to provide a reading guide to the literature. We apologize for any errors or omissions, and note that the previous surveys listed in the references contain much more information than can be included here (see, for example: [2, 4, 6, 9, 10, 11, 13, 39, 41]. Some new directions are briefly described in the last section.

### 2 First steps: pre-1960

The development of algebraic topology in the 1930's led to the first necessary conditions for a finite group  $\pi$  to act freely on a sphere. Since  $\mathbb{Z}/2$  is the only possibility for a free action on  $S^{2k}$  (by the Lefschetz fixed point theorem), we assume from now on that our space forms are *odd dimensional*. Foundational work on group actions was done by Smith [40, 41] in the 1940's, who showed that, for each prime p, subgroups of order  $p^2$  in such a group  $\pi$  must be cyclic.

More precisely, the elementary abelian p-group  $\mathbb{Z}/p \times \mathbb{Z}/p$  can not act freely and simplicially on any finite simplicial complex which is homotopy equivalent to a sphere.

We say that a finite group  $\pi$  such that every subgroup of order  $p^2$  is cyclic satisfies the  $p^2$ -condition. Equivalently, the  $p^2$ -condition means that the p-Sylow subgroup is cyclic, or possibly generalized quaternion (if p=2). It now becomes a problem in group theory to classify the finite groups  $\pi$  satisfying the  $p^2$ -conditions for all primes. This problem was settled by Zassenhaus [43] and Suzuki [42]: the quotient of  $\pi$  by the maximal normal odd order subgroup  $O(\pi)$  belongs to one of six types:

I. cyclic,

II. generalized quaternion 2-group,

III. binary tetrahedral,

IV. binary octahedral,

V.  $SL_2(p)$ ,  $p \ge 5$  prime,

VI.  $\mathrm{TL}_2(p), p \geqslant 5$  prime.

The groups of type I–IV are solvable, and the groups of type V–VI are non-solvable. The notation  $\mathrm{TL}_2(p)$  indicates a certain extension of  $\mathrm{SL}_2(p)$  (see [73, p.103] for more detail). Zassenhaus showed that if  $\pi$  admits a free orthogonal action on a sphere, then every subgroup of order pq, p and q primes, must be cyclic. Conversely, if a solvable group  $\pi$  satisfies all the pq-conditions, then it admits a free orthogonal representation.

After the introduction of group cohomology by Hurewicz, Artin and Tate, an alternative characterization was given: the finite groups satisfying the  $p^2$ -conditions for all primes are precisely the finite groups with periodic cohomology [18, Chapter XII, §11]. In this formulation, cup product with an element  $g \in \widehat{H}^n(\pi; \mathbb{Z})$  gives an isomorphism  $\widehat{H}^k(\pi; A) \xrightarrow{\approx} \widehat{H}^{n+k}(\pi; A)$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , for any  $\pi$ -module A. If n > 0, such elements g are in bijection with generators of the cyclic group  $\widehat{H}^n(\pi; \mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/|\pi|$ . The degree n is called a cohomological period, and it turns out that every period is a multiple of an even minimal period, denoted  $2d(\pi)$ .

Thomas and Wall [73] defined a  $(\pi, n)$ -polarized space, for  $n \geq 3$ , to consist of a pointed CW-complex X, dominated by a finite complex, together with an isomorphism  $\pi_1(X, x_0) \cong \pi$  and a homotopy equivalence of the universal covering  $\widetilde{X}$  to the sphere  $S^{n-1}$ . Here are two key observations:

- (i) the (polarized) homotopy type of a  $(\pi, n)$ -polarized space is determined, via the first k-invariant, by a generator of  $\widehat{H}^n(\pi; \mathbb{Z})$ , and
  - (ii) each  $(\pi, n)$ -polarized space X determines an obstruction (see Wall [69])

$$\theta(X) = \theta(g) \in \widetilde{K}_0(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$$

such that X is homotopy equivalent to a finite complex if and only if  $\theta(g) = 0$ . A smooth or topological free  $\pi$  action on  $S^{n-1}$  leads to a closed manifold quotient  $X = S^{n-1}/\pi$ . In this case, X is a  $(\pi, n)$ -polarized space, whose k-invariant  $g \in \hat{H}^n(\pi; \mathbb{Z})$  has the property  $\theta(g) = 0$ . Finding such a space is the first basic obstruction to the existence problem. We will discuss some of the delicate number theory issues involved in Section 7.

In the late 1950's, Milnor's dramatic discoveries revolutionized algebraic and geometric topology. For the space form problem, the discovery of exotic spheres [38] and his update of Hopf's 1926 paper about 3-manifolds with finite fundamental group had the most striking impact.

**Theorem 2.1** (Milnor [39]). If  $\pi$  is a finite group which acts freely by homeomorphisms on a manifold which is a mod 2 homology sphere, then every subgroup of order 2p in  $\pi$  is cyclic.

After this the topological space form problem suddenly had two versions, depending on whether one considers smooth actions on (possibly exotic) homotopy spheres, or topological actions on the standard sphere. Moreover, Milnor had identified a new group theoretic obstruction to existence beyond the  $p^2$ -conditions obtained by P. A. Smith. For a free  $\pi$ -action on  $S^{n-1}$  by homeomorphisms,  $\pi$  must satisfy the 2p-conditions for all primes. Equivalently,  $\pi$  cannot contain any dihedral subgroups or every element of order two must be central. Milnor pointed out that the first unsolved case after this new restriction is the non-abelian group of order 21.

For actions on the 3-sphere,  $\pi$  must be 4-periodic. In the same paper, Milnor [39] set the stage for future work by listing the finite groups which satisfy all the  $p^2$  and 2p conditions, and have period four. Among the groups in Milnor's list, which did not appear in Hopf's list (arising from orthogonal spherical space forms  $\mathbb{S}^3/\Gamma$ , with  $\Gamma \subset SO(4)$ ), were an interesting family:

$$Q(8m,k,l) = \{x,y,z: x^2 = (xy)^2 = y^{2m}, z^{kl} = 1, xzx^{-1} = z^r, yzy^{-1} = z^{-1}\}$$

where 8m, k, l are pairwise relatively prime positive integers, with  $r \equiv -1 \pmod{k}$ , and  $r \equiv +1 \pmod{l}$ . If l = 1 we write Q(8m, k), and if m is odd we label these group type IIM. This family of 4-periodic groups has played a pivotal role in all the subsequent developments.

### 3 Swan complexes: 1960–1970

The next big step was taken in 1960 by Swan, who established a converse to the necessary conditions from P. A. Smith theory for simplicial actions.

**Theorem 3.1** (Swan [48]). Let  $\pi$  be a finite group with periodic cohomology. For  $n \geq 4$ , the set of (polarized) homotopy types of  $(\pi, n)$ -polarized spaces is in bijection with the set of generators  $g \in \widehat{H}^n(\pi; \mathbb{Z})$ .

From now on, we will usually refer to  $(\pi, n)$ -polarized spaces as *Swan complexes*. Notice that  $\pi$  is only assumed to satisfy the  $p^2$ -conditions, so dihedral subgroups present no obstruction to the existence of Swan complexes.

*Proof.* Here is an outline of the proof of this fundamental result. Swan first showed that every periodicity generator  $g \in \widehat{H}^n(\pi; \mathbb{Z})$  for the cohomology of  $\pi$  determines a periodic projective resolution

$$P_*(g): 0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to P_{n-1} \to P_{n-2} \to \cdots \to P_1 \to P_0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to 0$$

meaning an exact sequence of  $\mathbb{Z}\pi$ -modules, where each  $P_i$  is a finitely-generated projective module over the group ring  $\mathbb{Z}\pi$  and  $\mathbb{Z}$  denotes the integers with trivial  $\pi$ -action. Given g, the resolution  $P_*(g)$  is unique up to a chain homotopy equivalence which is the identity on  $\mathbb{Z}$  at both ends. The geometric realization of  $P_*(g)$  is carried out by showing that the resolution  $P_*(g)$  may be assumed to agree in degrees  $i \leq 2$  with the cellular chain complex  $C_*(\widetilde{K})$  of a finite 2-complex K with fundamental group  $\pi$ . Then an inductive cell-attaching argument (due to Milnor) produces a finite-dimensional CW-complex with a free cellular action of  $\pi$ . The quotient of this CW-complex by the action of  $\pi$  is the desired Swan complex.  $\square$ 

In order to produce a finite Swan complex, it is necessary to analyze the effect of changing the generator. If  $g' = r \cdot g \in \widehat{H}^n(\pi; \mathbb{Z})$  is another generator, then the comparison theorem for resolutions [27, III.6.1] gives a chain map  $\phi \colon P_*(g) \to P_*(g')$ 

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow P_{n-1} \longrightarrow P_{n-2} \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow P_1 \longrightarrow P_0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow 0$$

$$\downarrow^r \qquad \downarrow^{\phi} \qquad \downarrow^{\phi} \qquad \downarrow^{\phi} \qquad \downarrow^{\phi} \qquad \parallel$$

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow P'_{n-1} \longrightarrow P'_{n-2} \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow P'_1 \longrightarrow P'_0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow 0$$

inducing multiplication by r on the left-hand module  $\mathbb{Z}$ . Note that r is relatively prime to the order of  $\pi$ , since g and g' are both generators.

For each generator, Swan now defined the finiteness obstruction  $\theta(g) \in \widetilde{K}_0(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$  by the Euler characteristic formula

$$\theta(g) = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (-1)^i [P_i] \in \widetilde{K}_0(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$$

where  $[P_i]$  denotes the class of  $P_i$  in the projective class group. He showed that  $\theta(g) = 0$  if and only if g can be represented by a periodic resolution of finitely-generated  $free \ \mathbb{Z}\pi$ -modules. Moreover, if  $g' = r \cdot g$  is another generator, then  $\theta(g') = \theta(g) + [\langle N, r \rangle]$ , where  $\langle N, r \rangle$  denotes the ideal in  $\mathbb{Z}\pi$  generated by the sum N of all the group elements of  $\pi$ , and an integer r relatively prime to  $|\pi|$ .

These projective ideals are usually called *Swan modules*, and the subgroup of  $\widetilde{K}_0(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$  generated by all the Swan modules (as r varies) is called the *Swan subgroup*  $T(\pi)$  of the projective class group. It follows that a periodic group  $\pi$  admits a finite  $(\pi, n)$ -complex if and only if we have

$$\theta_n(\pi) := [\theta(g)] = 0 \in \widetilde{K}_0(\mathbb{Z}\pi)/T(\pi).$$

In other words, the indeterminacy in the finiteness obstruction given by changing the generator is precisely described by  $T(\pi)$ .

For the minimal period dimension  $n = 2d(\pi)$ , we obtain an invariant  $\theta(\pi) := [\theta(g)]$  depending only on  $\pi$ . This turned out to be very difficult to calculate. On the other hand, if we are willing to increase the dimension by splicing k copies of a given periodic projective resolution  $P_*(g)$ , we obtain a resolution  $P_*(g^k)$  of length nk-1. This algebraic operation corresponds to the geometric join of k copies of

 $\widetilde{X}(g)$ . From the definition, it follows that  $\theta(g^k) = k \cdot \theta(g) \in \widetilde{K}_0(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$ . In another fundamental paper, Swan [49] proved that  $\widetilde{K}_0(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$  is a finite abelian group. Hence the finiteness obstruction can be eliminated by choosing k equal to the exponent of the projective class group. In summary:

**Theorem 3.2** (Swan [48]). Let  $\pi$  be a finite group with periodic cohomology. Then, for some integer  $n = 2kd(\pi)$ , there exists a finite (n-1)-dimensional Swan complex  $X(\pi)$ .

This result settles the "stable existence" problem for Swan complexes, but existence in the period dimension  $n=2d(\pi)$  turned out to require difficult calculations in number theory.

# 4 Semicharacteristic obstructions and 3-manifolds

In the late 1960's, Wall asked whether Milnor's result on the necessity of the 2p-conditions could be interpreted using the new theory of non-simply connected surgery. Lee [45] answered this question in 1973 by defining a "semicharacteristic" obstruction for the problem (see also [44, 47]). As well as recovering the previous result of Milnor, the semicharacteristic shows that none of the groups Q(8m, k, l), m even, defined at the end of Section 2 can act freely and topologically on a sphere  $S^{8s+3}$ , for any  $s \ge 0$ . Later Thomas [52] observed that this also eliminates the family of groups  $O(48, 3^{k-1}, l)$  in Milnor's list from dimensions 8s + 3 because groups of this type always contain a subgroup isomorphic to  $O(16, 3^{k-1}, 1)$ .

In particular, the difference between Hopf's list of orthogonal space form groups and Milnor's list of possible finite fundamental groups of closed 3-manifolds could now be resolved by eliminating a single family of 4-periodic groups, namely the type IIM groups Q(8m,k,l), with m odd. However, each of these groups contains a subgroup of the form Q(8p,q), for distinct odd primes p and q, so it is enough to eliminate the groups Q(8p,q). Despite claims in the literature (see [57, 58]), only Perelman's results more than 30 years later gave the first proof that Q(8p,q) is not a 3-manifold group.

# 5 Poincaré complexes

In 1967, Wall [69] defined Poincaré complexes as CW complexes with the homology properties of closed manifolds, and it was clear that every  $(\pi, n)$ -polarized space X was a Poincaré complex in this sense. Surgery theory was developed by Browder [16], Kervaire-Milnor [63], Novikov, Sullivan and Wall [34] to study the existence and uniqueness of manifold structures on Poincaré duality spaces. For surgery on topological manifolds one also needs Kirby and Siebenmann [24].

The structure set,  $\mathscr{S}(X)$ , is the set of equivalence classes of pairs (M, f), where  $M^m$  is a closed, topological or smooth m-manifold, and  $f: M \to X$  is (simple) homotopy equivalence. The existence problem is to show  $\mathscr{S}(X) \neq \varnothing$ , and surgery theory sets up a two step process for the solution. In the first step, one must find a (topological) vector bundle  $\xi \setminus X$  which is fibre homotopy equivalent to the

Spivak normal fibre space  $\nu_X$  for X (see [67] and [69, Chapter 3]). This bundle is a candidate for the stable normal bundle of a manifold homotopy equivalent to X. It is classified by a lift of the classifying map  $\nu_X \colon X \to BG$  to BTOP or BO. If such a bundle exists, we say that  $\nu_X$  is reducible, and one may vary the choice of reduction by an element in [X, G/TOP] or [X, G/O]. A reduction for  $\nu_X$  provides a degree one normal map or normal invariant



which is well-defined up to *normal cobordism*. The second step in the surgery process is to evaluate an obstruction

$$\sigma(f,b) \in L_m(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$$

of the normal invariant in an algebraically defined surgery obstruction group. For  $m \ge 5$ , this obstruction vanishes if and only if (f,b) is normally cobordant to a (simple) homotopy equivalence. In other words, the outcome of the two step process (if successful) is the existence of a closed TOP or smooth manifold homotopy equivalent to X.

If  $\mathcal{S}(X) \neq \emptyset$ ,  $m \geqslant 5$ , and we fix a smooth manifold structure on X as a base-point, the surgery exact sequence (see Wall [34, Chapter 10])

$$[\Sigma(X), G/O] \xrightarrow{\sigma_{m+1}(X)} L_{m+1}(\mathbb{Z}\pi) \longrightarrow \mathscr{S}(X) \longrightarrow [X, G/O] \xrightarrow{\sigma_m(X)} L_m(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$$

relates the classification of manifolds which are simple homotopy equivalent to X, or the determining the set  $\mathcal{S}(X)$ , to the calculation of the surgery obstruction maps  $\sigma_{m+1}(X)$  and  $\sigma_m(X)$ . Here  $\Sigma(X) = (X \times I)/(X \times \partial I)$ , and exactness is interpreted in the context of pointed sets. In particular,  $\sigma_m(X) \colon [X, G/O] \to L_m(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$  is not a homomorphism in general, although both domain and range are abelian groups. There is a similar sequence for topological manifolds, with [X, G/TOP] instead of [X, G/O] and the obvious change in the definition of the structure set.

For a suitable H-space structure on G/TOP (see [24, 28, 31]), the surgery exact sequence becomes a sequence of abelian groups and homomorphisms. In particular, the structure set  $\mathcal{S}_{TOP}(X)$  inherits a natural abelian group structure in the topological case (see Ranicki [31]).

In 1971, Lee [64] and Petrie [66] independently showed how surgery theory could be used to prove a new existence result.

**Theorem 5.1** (Lee, Petrie). There exist free smooth actions of odd order non-abelian metacyclic groups on spheres.

In particular, these groups  $\pi = \mathbb{Z}/p \rtimes \mathbb{Z}/q$  are solvable but do not satisfy the pq-conditions, so the actions constructed here gave the first examples of nonlinear free actions on spheres.

# 6 Surgery theory and stable existence

In the 1970's, Madsen, Thomas and Wall combined ideas from group cohomology and representation theory, with new methods in algebraic topology and hermitian forms, to completely solve the stable existence problem for topological space forms.

**Theorem 6.1** ([71, 72]). Let  $\pi$  be a finite group satisfying the  $p^2$  and 2p-conditions, for every prime p. Then  $\pi$  acts freely and smoothly on  $S^{n-1}$ , for any  $n \equiv 0 \pmod{2e(\pi)}$ .

In the statement,  $e(\pi)$  is the Artin-Lam induction exponent [20]. This is the least positive integer e such that  $e \cdot \chi$  is expressible as a sum of rational representation induced from cyclic subgroups of  $\pi$ , for each  $\chi \in R_{\mathbb{Q}}(\pi)$ . For the periodic groups  $e(\pi) = d(\pi)$  or  $e(\pi) = 2d(\pi)$ , depending on  $\pi$ , and the dimensional result is best possible, except possibly for groups containing a type IIM subgroup Q(8m, k).

We can only outline the ingredients in the proof. The key idea is to choose the homotopy type and normal invariant of the Swan complex  $X(\pi)$  so that its coverings  $X(\rho)$ , for proper subgroups  $\rho \subset \pi$  agree with orthogonal spherical space forms (whenever this makes sense). To achieve this goal, one can use the fact that both group cohomology  $\hat{H}^*(\pi; \mathbb{Z})$  and the normal invariants  $[X(\pi), G/O]$  are described by (generalized) cohomology theories, and hence computable by induction and restriction in terms of the Sylow subgroups. For the normal invariant, this is major new ingredient based on the infinite loop space structure of G/O (see Madsen and Milgram [28] for references and more information). For the surgery step, Wall [70, 34, Chapter 13B] had shown that

- (i) the surgery obstruction groups  $L_*(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$ , for  $\pi$  finite, are computable in the sense of Dress induction theory by restriction to the 2-hyperelementary and the odd p-elementary subgroups of  $\pi$ , and
- (ii) the change in the surgery obstruction by varying the normal invariant is detected by restriction to the 2-Sylow subgroups of  $\pi$ .

For periodic groups satisfying the 2p-conditions, all the 2-hyperelementary and odd p-elementary groups admit free orthogonal representations. The main existence result of Madsen, Thomas and Wall now follows directly from these general facts and the careful preparation of the surgery problem. Here is a summary technical statement (obtained by combining [71,  $\S\S2-3$ ] and [72, Theorem 2]).

**Theorem 6.2** (Madsen-Thomas-Wall). Let  $\pi$  be a finite group with periodic cohomology. There exist finite  $(\pi, n)$ -polarized Swan complexes  $X = X(\pi)$  such that the covering spaces  $X(\rho)$  are homotopy equivalent to closed manifolds, for each  $\rho \subseteq \pi$  which has a fixed-point free orthogonal representation. In addition, X has a smooth normal invariant which restricts to the normal invariant of an orthogonal spherical space form for the 2-Sylow covering  $X(\pi_2)$ .

In this formulation,  $\pi$  is not assumed to satisfy the 2p-conditions and this extra generality is useful for other applications. However, as mentioned above, if  $\pi$  has no dihedral subgroups then the surgery obstruction automatically vanishes for a suitable smooth normal invariant, implying that  $\pi$  acts freely and smoothly on a sphere.

#### 7 The finiteness obstruction

The remaining part of the topological spherical space form problem, at least for existence, concerns actions in the period dimension  $n=2d(\pi)$ . Here the first major difficulty is to produce a finite  $(\pi, 2d(\pi))$ -polarized Swan complex. The problem is made more challenging by the fact that the projective class group  $\widetilde{K}_0(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$  containing the finiteness obstructions requires (in general) all the hyperelementary subgroups for a computation using Dress induction. An effective method of calculation was described by Wall [79] in 1979, based on a Mayer-Vietoris sequence arising from the arithmetic square:



In this sequence

$$\cdots \to K_1(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}\pi) \oplus K_1(\mathbb{Q}\pi) \to K_1(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\pi) \xrightarrow{\partial} \widetilde{K}_0(\mathbb{Z}\pi) \to \widetilde{K}_0(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}\pi) \oplus \widetilde{K}_0(\mathbb{Q}\pi) \to \cdots$$

the finiteness obstruction  $\theta(g)$  for a periodic projective resolution

$$P_*(g): 0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to P_{n-1} \to P_{n-2} \to \cdots \to P_1 \to P_0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to 0$$

lies in the image of the boundary map  $\partial \colon K_1(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\pi) \to \widetilde{K}_0(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$ . More precisely, we have the formula

$$\partial(\widehat{\Delta}(g)) = \theta(g) \in \widetilde{K}_0(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$$

where  $\widehat{\Delta}(g) \in K_1(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\pi)$  is the *idelic Reidemeister torsion* of the resolution, or its associated  $(\pi, n)$ -polarized Swan complex. The definition of the idelic Reidemeister torsion in [79, §9] follows the prescription in Milnor [65] for the torsion of a chain complex of free modules with based homology. In this case,  $P_*(g) \otimes R$  becomes a chain complex of free R-modules, for  $R = \mathbb{Q}$  or  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}$ , since projective modules over  $\mathbb{Z}\pi$  are locally free, by Swan [48]. The complex  $P_*(g)$  is the pull-back of based chain complexes over  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}\pi$  and  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\pi$  via glueing automorphisms over  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\pi$ , leading to  $\widehat{\Delta}(g) \in K_1(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\pi)$ .

The challenge was to actually carry out the calculations in specific cases. As already explained, the main examples to consider are the 4-periodic type IIM groups. The breakthrough here was made in 1981 by Milgram, who first showed that the finiteness obstruction  $\theta(g)$  lies in a more tractable subgroup  $D(\mathbb{Z}\pi) \subseteq \widetilde{K}_0(\mathbb{Z}\pi)$  of the projective class group (defined in [19, Chapter 6, p.234]), and then obtained a surprising result:

**Theorem 7.1** (Milgram [77]). Among the periodic groups  $\pi = Q(8p, q)$ , for distinct odd primes p, q, there exist groups with nonzero finiteness obstruction, and groups which can act freely and topologically on  $S^{8s+3}$ , for s > 0.

After this, further concrete calculations were made by Milgram [78, 4], and Madsen [9]. The methods were re-organized and extended by Bentzen and Madsen [76, 74, 75]. At present, it is still not known exactly which groups Q(8p,q) have nonzero finiteness obstruction. On the other hand, assuming the Generalized Riemann Hypothesis, there are infinitely prime pairs (p,q) for which Q(8p,q) acts freely on  $S^{8s+3}$ , s>0 (see Bentzen [75, 6.6]). For the range pq<2000, Bentzen lists

$$(p,q) = (3,313), (3,433), (3,601)$$
 and  $(17,103)$ 

as the only pairs for which Q(8p,q) admits a free action on  $S^{8s+3}$ . These calculations were made possible by using reduced norms to identify the idelic torsion in  $K_1(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\pi)$  with units in the l-adic completions of the centre fields of  $\mathbb{Q}\pi$  in the Wedderburn decomposition.

The situation for more general type IIM groups  $Q(8p,q) \times \mathbb{Z}/r$  is even more difficult, because the finiteness obstruction is not detected on the subgroups. For example, for  $\pi = Q(24,313) \times \mathbb{Z}/7$  the finiteness obstruction is nonzero, but  $\theta(Q(24,313)) = 0$ .

# 8 Space forms in the period dimension

In 1983, Madsen [104] translated the existence problem for a free Q(8p,q)-action on a sphere  $S^{8s+3}$ , s>0, into explicit number theoretic conditions. In this sense, we have a complete solution to the topological spherical space form problem for these groups. The work cited above on the finiteness obstruction shows that effective calculations are possible in principle, but they involve detailed knowledge of units in algebraic number fields.

In order to give the flavour of the number theory involved, we need some definitions (see [104, p.195]). For any integer r, let  $\eta_r = \zeta_r + \zeta_r^{-1}$ , where  $\zeta_r = e^{2\pi i/r}$  is a primitive root of unity. Let  $A = \mathbb{Z}[\eta_p, \eta_q]$  and let  $F = \mathbb{Q}(\eta_p, \eta_q)$  denote its fraction field. There are reduction maps

$$\Phi_A \colon F^{(2)} \to (A/pq)^{\times} = (A/p)^{\times} \oplus (A/q)^{\times}$$

and

$$\varphi_A \colon F^{(2)} \to (A/4A)^{\times}$$

where  $F^{(2)}$  denotes the elements in F with even valuation at all finite primes in A.

**Theorem 8.1** (Madsen [104, Theorem B]). The group Q(8p,q) acts freely on  $S^{8s+3}$ , for s > 0, if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:

- (i)  $(1, -1) \in \text{Image}(\Phi_A)$ ;
- (ii)  $(\eta_p 2, \eta_q 2) \in \operatorname{Image}(\Phi_A \mid \ker \varphi_A);$
- (iii)  $(2,2) \in \operatorname{Image}(\Phi_A)$ .

The first and third conditions imply that the "top" component of the finiteness obstruction is zero. The mysterious elements  $(\eta_p - 2, \eta_q - 2) \in (A/p)^{\times} \oplus (A/q)^{\times}$  arise from the idelic Reidemeister torsion of a suitable Swan complex, and the

reduction map gives the "top" component of the surgery obstruction. A crucial technical device used to identify explicit elements in algebraic K- and L-theory in terms of units are *Galois module homomorphisms*, as introduced by Fröhlich [23]. The proof of this existence result uses the full calculation of surgery obstruction groups [70, 7]. Madsen's statement included the assumption that the k-invariant was "almost linear", but this turned out to be a necessary condition (see [89]).

Remark 8.2. The vanishing of the high-dimensional obstructions for  $\pi = Q(8p, q)$  also implies that  $\pi$  acts freely on some integral homology 3-sphere. Conversely, the non-vanishing of the high-dimensional obstructions shows that  $\pi$  is not a 3-manifold fundamental group.

# 9 Topological Euclidean space forms

A free  $\pi$ -action on a sphere  $S^{n-1}$  produces by "coning" a topological  $\pi$ -action on Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . One can ask: "which finite groups can act semi-freely on Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with one isolated fixed point?" More generally, "which finite groups can act semi-freely on some Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^{n+k}$  with (non-empty) fixed set a standardly embedded  $\mathbb{R}^k$ ?" By one-point compactification, we obtain the corresponding questions for spheres, and then generalize to allow more isotropy:

- A. Which finite groups admit a semi-free topological action on  $S^{n+k}$ , with fixed set a standard  $S^k$ ,  $k \ge 0$ ?
- B. Which finite groups  $\pi$  can act topologically on  $S^{n+k}$ , freely on the complement of a  $\pi$ -invariant standard sphere  $S^k$ ,  $k \ge 0$ ?
- C. Which infinite discrete groups  $\Gamma$  can act freely, properly discontinuously and co-compactly on  $S^m \times \mathbb{R}^n$ ?

The complement  $S^{n+k} - S^k \approx S^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R}^{k+1}$  is homotopy equivalent to a sphere. Therefore, any finite group  $\pi$  acting as in problem (A) or (B), and any finite subgroup of  $\Gamma$  in problem (C), must be a periodic group (satisfying the  $p^2$ -conditions for all primes p). Problem (C) is a natural extension of (B) to a new world of infinite discrete group actions. Examples arise from the geometry of pseudo-Riemannian space forms (see Kulkarni [122, 123]). Wall [79, p.518] noted that in this setting the Farrell-Tate cohomology [113] would necessarily be periodic (e.g. if  $\operatorname{vcd}\Gamma < \infty$ ), and asked whether  $\Gamma$  could contain any (finite) dihedral subgroups.

Problem (A) has been completely solved (reduced to number theory). Here is a sample result, for semi-free actions on  $(\mathbb{R}^n, 0)$  or  $(S^n, S^0)$ .

**Theorem 9.1** (Hambleton-Madsen [117, Theorem C]). The group Q(8p,q) acts semi-freely on  $(\mathbb{R}^{4l}, 0)$ , for  $l \ge 0$ , if and only if  $(\eta_p - 2, \eta_q - 2) \in \text{Image}(\Phi_A \mid \ker \varphi_A)$  modulo squares.

In the statement the ranges of both reduction maps used in Theorem 8.1 are taken modulo squares of units. This number theoretic condition is much easier to satisfy, and Bentzen [75] made a thorough comparison with the spherical case. For example, there are infinitely many pairs (p,q) which satisfy the condition, and many examples where the finiteness obstruction of Q(8p,q) is nonzero. In

other words, these examples have no invariant free  $\pi$ -action on a sphere  $S^{4l-1}$  in the complement of the isolated fixed point  $\{0\}$ . The extension of surgery theory for finite groups to dimension four by Freedman [61, 22, §11.10, p.231] allows the statements in [117] to be extended to actions on  $(\mathbb{R}^4, 0)$ . One-point compactification produces interesting orientation-preserving examples of semi-free topological actions on  $S^4$  fixing two points, by finite groups which are not subgroups of SO(5). Another general result on problem (A) is that every  $\pi$  with such a semi-free action on  $(S^{n+k}, S^k)$  also acts semi-freely on  $(S^n, S^0)$ . Moreover, every such semi-free action "desuspends" to an action on  $(S^{n+1}, S^1)$ , but not necessarily to  $(S^n, S^0)$  (see [117, p.804]). The desuspension result was also proved in [111].

Problems (B) and (C) have led to further research, but they are still very far from solution. In [118] these problems were studied using new methods in bounded topology, and the role of the 2p-conditions was understood. The relevant surgery obstruction groups were computed in [62]. It was shown that dihedral groups can occur for (B), but only in the presence of a specific nontrivial action on the invariant sub-sphere  $S^k \subset S^{n+k}$ .

**Theorem 9.2** (Hambleton-Pedersen [118, 7.11]). Let V be a linear representation of the dihedral group  $\pi = D_{2p}$ , for p an odd prime. There is a topological  $\pi$ -action on a sphere  $S^{n+k}$ , which is free on the complement of a standard  $\pi$ -invariant subsphere, and given by the unit sphere S(V) on the sub-sphere, if and only if the representation V has at least two  $\mathbb{R}_-$  summands.

The  $\mathbb{R}_{-}$  representation is the sign representation of  $D_{2p}$  via its projection onto  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ . A similar statement [118, 8.3] was proved in the setting of problem (C), showing exactly when the infinite discrete groups  $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}^r \rtimes_{\alpha} D_{2p}$  can act freely, properly and co-compactly on some product  $S^m \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , expressed in terms of the twisting map  $\alpha \colon D_{2p} \to \mathrm{GL}_r(\mathbb{Z})$ .

The classification of  $\pi$ -actions on  $(\mathbb{R}^{n+k}, \mathbb{R}^k)$  or  $(S^{n+k}, S^k)$  up to equivariant homeomorphism is very challenging, even for the linear actions provided by direct sums  $V \oplus W$  of a free  $\pi$ -representation V with an arbitrary  $\pi$ -representation W. This is the famous nonlinear similarity problem of de Rham (see [119, 121]). A lot of work remains to be done on this problem for non-cyclic periodic groups  $\pi$ . We remark that the version of problem (C) without assuming co-compactness has been solved (see [110, 112]).

# 10 Further topics

The spherical space form problem concerns free actions of finite groups on spheres. Here are two recent directions related to these periodic or rank one groups. Recall that the rank of a finite group  $\pi$  is the largest integer k such that  $\pi$  contains an elementary abelian p-group  $(\mathbb{Z}/p)^k$  for some prime p.

A. Which finite groups can act freely on a product  $S^n \times S^n$  of spheres of the same dimension?

B. Which finite groups can act on a sphere  $S^n$  with periodic isotropy subgroups? The first problem has group theoretic obstructions, but the complete answer is far from understood. For example, if  $\pi$  acts freely on any product of spheres, then

rank  $\pi \leq 2$ . If  $\pi$  acts freely on  $S^n \times S^n$ , for some n, then  $\pi$  cannot contain the alternating group  $A_4$  as a subgroup (see Oliver [132]). This implies that no finite simple group can act freely on  $S^n \times S^n$ . In the late 1970's, Stein [133] proved that  $\pi = D_{2p} \times D_{2p}$  can act freely and smoothly on  $S^{4k+3} \times S^{4k+3}$ , for  $k \geq 0$ , even though the dihedral group can not act freely on a single sphere.

**Theorem 10.1** (Hambleton [124]). Let  $\pi = \pi_1 \times \pi_2$  be a product of finite periodic groups. Then  $\pi$  acts freely and smoothly on some product  $S^n \times S^n$ .

Further work on problem (A) is contained in [127, 128], including existence results for the extra-special p-groups of order  $p^3$ , for p an odd prime. Free actions of finite groups on arbitrary products of spheres have been extensively studied (see Adem and Smith [110]).

If a finite group acts on a sphere with periodic isotropy, then  $\operatorname{rank} \pi \leq 2$ . Orthogonal representation spheres S(V) provide a rich collection of examples, but there are many rank two finite groups which do not admit any linear action with periodic isotropy. The simplest case is  $\pi = S_5$ , the symmetric group on 5 letters. Here is a recent analogue of Swan's theorem for this case.

**Theorem 10.2** (Hambleton-Pamuk-Yalçın [126]). Let  $\pi = S_5$ . Then there exists a finite  $\pi$ -CW complex X with periodic isotropy such that  $X \simeq S^n$ .

Much work remains to be done on problem (B), to identify the group theoretic and topological obstructions (see [125, 130, 92]). Recall that, by Smith theory, the fixed sets of p-power subgroups are  $\mathbb{Z}/p$ -homology spheres. The work of Jones [129] and Oliver [131] points toward the richness of the classification problem for finite group actions on spheres. In addition, Milnor's 2p-conditions on normalizer quotients of isotropy subgroups also appear in this setting as obstructions to smooth or topological actions. In future work, it will be very interesting to understand how the structure of the fixed sets interacts with the family of isotropy subgroups, in order to compare linear and nonlinear actions on spheres.

The following list of references is organized approximately by relevance to the sections headings above.

### References

# Surveys

- [1] A. Adem, Cohomology and actions of finite groups, Differential topology, foliations, and group actions (Rio de Janeiro, 1992), Contemp. Math., Vol. 161, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1994, pp. 123–141.
- [2] A. Adem and J. F. Davis, Topics in transformation groups, Handbook of geometric topology, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2002, pp. 1–54.
- [3] G. Carlsson, On Jim Milgram's mathematical work, Topology, geometry, and algebra: interactions and new directions (Stanford, CA, 1999), Contemp. Math., Vol. 279, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2001, pp. 1–10.

- [4] J. F. Davis and R. J. Milgram, A survey of the spherical space form problem, Mathematical Reports, Vol. 2, Harwood Academic Publishers, Chur, 1985.
- [5] S. C. Ferry, I. Hambleton, and E. K. Pedersen, A survey of bounded surgery theory and applications, Algebraic topology and its applications, Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., Vol. 27, Springer, New York, 1994, pp. 57–80.
- [6] I. Hambleton, Algebraic K- and L-theory and applications to the topology of manifolds, Topology of high-dimensional manifolds, no. 1, 2 (Trieste, 2001), ICTP Lect. Notes, Vol. 9, Abdus Salam Int. Cent. Theoret. Phys., Trieste, 2002, pp. 299–369.
- [7] I. Hambleton and L. R. Taylor, A guide to the calculation of the surgery obstruction groups for finite groups, Surveys on surgery theory, Vol. 1, Ann. of Math. Stud., Vol. 145, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2000, pp. 225–274.
- [8] J. Lott, The work of Grigory Perelman, International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. I, Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2007, pp. 66–76.
- [9] I. Madsen, Spherical space forms, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians (Helsinki, 1978) (Helsinki), Acad. Sci. Fennica, 1980, pp. 475–479.
- [10] I. Madsen, Spherical space forms: a survey, 18th Scandinavian Congress of Mathematicians (Aarhus, 1980), Progr. Math., Vol. 11, Birkhäuser Boston, Mass., 1981, pp. 82–103.
- [11] R. J. Milgram, A survey of the compact space form problem, Symposium on Algebraic Topology in Honor of José Adem (Oaxtepec, 1981), Contemp. Math., Vol. 12, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1982, pp. 219–255.
- [12] R. Schultz, Homotopy invariants and G-manifolds: a look at the past fifteen years, Group actions on manifolds (Boulder, Colo., 1983), Contemp. Math., Vol. 36, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1985, pp. 17–81.
- [13] C. T. C. Wall, Free actions of finite groups on spheres, Algebraic and geometric topology (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Stanford University, Stanford, Calif., 1976), Part 1, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXII, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1978, pp. 115–124.
- [14] C. T. C. Wall, On the structure of finite groups with periodic cohomology, Lie Groups: Structure, Actions, and Representations (A. Huckleberry, I. Penkov, and G. Zuckerman, eds.), Progress in Mathematics, Vol. 306, Birkhäuser Verlag, 2013, pp. 381–413.

#### **Books**

[15] L. Bessières, G. Besson, S. Maillot, M. Boileau, and J. Porti, Geometrisation of 3-manifolds, EMS Tracts in Mathematics, Vol. 13, European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2010.

- [16] W. Browder, Surgery on Simply-connected Manifolds, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1972, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, Band 65.
- [17] H.-D. Cao and X.-P. Zhu, A complete proof of the Poincaré and geometrization conjectures—application of the Hamilton-Perelman theory of the Ricci flow, Asian J. Math. 10 (2006), 165–492.
- [18] H. Cartan and S. Eilenberg, Homological Algebra, Princeton Landmarks in Mathematics, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1999, With an appendix by David A. Buchsbaum, Reprint of the 1956 original.
- [19] C. W. Curtis and I. Reiner, Methods of Representation Theory. Vol. II, Pure and Applied Mathematics (New York), John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 1987, With applications to finite groups and orders, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [20] C. W. Curtis and I. Reiner, Methods of Representation Theory. Vol. I, Wiley Classics Library, John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 1990, With applications to finite groups and orders, Reprint of the 1981 original, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [21] M. P. do Carmo, Riemannian Geometry, Mathematics: Theory & Applications, Birkhäuser Boston Inc., Boston, MA, 1992, Translated from the second Portuguese edition by Francis Flaherty.
- [22] M. H. Freedman and F. Quinn, Topology of 4-manifolds, Princeton Mathematical Series, Vol. 39, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1990.
- [23] A. Fröhlich, Galois Module Structure of Algebraic Integers, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)], Vol. 1, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1983.
- [24] R. C. Kirby and L. C. Siebenmann, Foundational Essays on Topological Manifolds, Smoothings, and Triangulations, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1977, With notes by John Milnor and Michael Atiyah, Annals of Mathematics Studies, no. 88.
- [25] B. Kleiner and J. Lott, Notes on Perelman's papers, Geom. Topol. 12 (2008), 2587–2855.
- [26] S. López de Medrano, Involutions on Manifolds, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1971, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, Band 59.
- [27] S. Mac Lane, Homology, Classics in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995, Reprint of the 1975 edition.
- [28] I. Madsen and R. J. Milgram, The Classifying Spaces for Surgery and Cobordism of Manifolds, Annals of Mathematics Studies, Vol. 92, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1979.

- [29] J. W. Morgan, On Thurston's uniformization theorem for three-dimensional manifolds, The Smith conjecture (New York, 1979), Pure Appl. Math., Vol. 112, Academic Press, Orlando, FL, 1984, pp. 37–125.
- [30] J. W. Morgan and G. Tian, Ricci Flow and the Poincaré Conjecture, Clay Mathematics Monographs, Vol. 3, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2007.
- [31] A. A. Ranicki, Algebraic *L*-theory and Topological Manifolds, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, Vol. 102, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.
- [32] C. B. Thomas, Elliptic Structures on 3-manifolds, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, University of Chicago Department of Mathematics, Chicago, IL, 1983.
- [33] C. B. Thomas, Elliptic Structures on 3-manifolds, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, Vol. 104, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1986.
- [34] C. T. C. Wall, Surgery on Compact Manifolds, second ed., Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, Vol. 69, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1999, Edited and with a foreword by A. A. Ranicki.
- [35] J. A. Wolf, Spaces of Constant Curvature, sixth ed., AMS Chelsea Publishing, Providence, RI, 2011.

# First steps: pre-1960

- [36] H. Hopf, Zum Clifford-Kleinschen Raumproblem, Math. Ann. 95 (1926), 313–339.
- [37] W. Killing, Ueber die Clifford-Klein'schen Raumformen, Math. Ann. 39 (1891), 257–278.
- [38] J. Milnor, On manifolds homeomorphic to the 7-sphere, Ann. of Math. (2) 64 (1956), 399-405.
- [39] J. Milnor, Groups which act on  $S^n$  without fixed points, Amer. J. Math. 79 (1957), 623–630.
- [40] P. A. Smith, Transformations of finite period, Ann. of Math. (2) 39 (1938), 127–164.
- [41] P. A. Smith, New results and old problems in finite transformation groups, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 66 (1960), 401–415.
- [42] M. Suzuki, On finite groups with cyclic Sylow subgroups for all odd primes, Amer. J. Math. 77 (1955), 657–691.

[43] H. Zassenhaus, Über endliche Fastkörper, Abh. Math. Sem. Univ. Hamburg 11 (1935), 187–220.

# Swan complexes

- [44] J. F. Davis, The surgery semicharacteristic, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 47 (1983), 411–428.
- [45] R. Lee, Semicharacteristic classes, Topology 12 (1973), 183–199.
- [46] R. J. Milgram, Orientations for Poincaré duality spaces and applications, Algebraic topology (Arcata, CA, 1986), Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 1370, Springer, Berlin, 1989, pp. 293–324.
- [47] W. Pardon, Mod 2 semicharacteristics and the converse to a theorem of Milnor, Math. Z. 171 (1980), 247–268.
- [48] R. G. Swan, Induced representations and projective modules, Ann. of Math. (2) 71 (1960), 552–578.
- [49] R. G. Swan, Periodic resolutions for finite groups, Ann. of Math. (2) 72 (1960), 267–291.
- [50] C. B. Thomas, The oriented homotopy type of compact 3-manifolds, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 19 (1969), 31–44.
- [51] C. B. Thomas, On Poincaré 3-complexes with binary polyhedral fundamental group, Math. Ann. 226 (1977), 207–221.
- [52] C. B. Thomas, A reduction theorem for free actions by the group Q(8n; k, l) on  $S^3$ , Bull. London Math. Soc. 20 (1988), 65–67.

# 3-dimensional space forms

- [53] T. H. Colding and W. P. Minicozzi, II, Embedded minimal surfaces without area bounds in 3-manifolds, Geometry and topology: Aarhus (1998), Contemp. Math., Vol. 258, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2000, pp. 107–120.
- [54] R. S. Hamilton, Three-manifolds with positive Ricci curvature, J. Differential Geom. 17 (1982), 255–306.
- [55] J. H. Rubinstein, Free actions of some finite groups on  $S^3$ . I, Math. Ann. 240 (1979), 165–175.
- [56] J. H. Rubinstein, An algorithm to recognize the 3-sphere, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. 1, 2 (Zürich, 1994) (Basel), Birkhäuser, 1995, pp. 601–611.
- [57] C. B. Thomas, Free actions by finite groups on  $S^3$ , Algebraic and geometric topology (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Stanford University, Stanford, Calif., 1976), Part 1, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXII, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1978, pp. 125–130.

- [58] C. B. Thomas, On 3-manifolds with finite solvable fundamental group, Invent. Math. 52 (1979), 187–197.
- [59] C. B. Thomas, Homotopy classification of free actions by finite groups on S<sup>3</sup>, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 40 (1980), 284–297.
- [60] C. B. Thomas, 3-manifolds and PD(3)-groups, Novikov conjectures, index theorems and rigidity, Vol. 2 (Oberwolfach, 1993), London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., Vol. 227, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995, pp. 301–308.

# Poincaré complexes and surgery

- [61] M. H. Freedman, The disk theorem for four-dimensional manifolds, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. 1, 2 (Warsaw, 1983) (Warsaw), PWN, 1984, pp. 647–663.
- [62] I. Hambleton and I. Madsen, On the computation of the projective surgery obstruction groups, K-Theory 7 (1993), 537–574.
- [63] M. A. Kervaire and J. W. Milnor, Groups of homotopy spheres. I, Ann. of Math. (2) 77 (1963), 504–537.
- [64] R. Lee, Computation of Wall groups, Topology 10 (1971), 149–176.
- [65] J. Milnor, Whitehead torsion, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 72 (1966), 358-426.
- [66] T. Petrie, Free metacyclic group actions on homotopy spheres, Ann. of Math. (2) 94 (1971), 108–124.
- [67] M. Spivak, Spaces satisfying Poincaré duality, Topology 6 (1967), 77–101.
- [68] C. B. Thomas, Obstructions for group actions on  $S^{2n-1}$ , Algebraic K-Theory and its Geometric Applications (Conf., Hull, 1969), Springer, Berlin, 1969, pp. 78–86.
- [69] C. T. C. Wall, Poincaré complexes. I, Ann. of Math. (2) 86 (1967), 213–245.
- [70] C. T. C. Wall, Classification of Hermitian Forms, VI, Group rings, Ann. of Math. (2) 103 (1976), 1–80.

### Madsen-Thomas-Wall

- [71] I. Madsen, C. B. Thomas, and C. T. C. Wall, The topological spherical space form problem, II, Existence of free actions, Topology 15 (1976), 375–382.
- [72] I. Madsen, Topological spherical space form problem, III, Dimensional bounds and smoothing, Pacific J. Math. 106 (1983), 135–143.
- [73] C. B. Thomas and C. T. C. Wall, The topological spherical space form problem, I, Compositio Math. 23 (1971), 101–114.

#### The finiteness obstruction

- [74] S. Bentzen, On the finiteness obstruction of certain periodic groups, Math. Scand. 55 (1984), 5–21.
- [75] S. Bentzen, Some numerical results on space forms, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 54 (1987), 559–576.
- [76] S. Bentzen and I. Madsen, On the Swan subgroup of certain periodic groups, Math. Ann. 264 (1983), 447–474.
- [77] R. J. Milgram, Odd index subgroups of units in cyclotomic fields and applications, Algebraic K-theory, Evanston 1980 (Proc. Conf., Northwestern Univ., Evanston, Ill., 1980), Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 854, Springer, Berlin, 1981, pp. 269–298.
- [78] R. J. Milgram, Evaluating the Swan finiteness obstruction for periodic groups, Algebraic and geometric topology (New Brunswick, N.J., 1983), Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 1126, Springer, Berlin, 1985, pp. 127–158.
- [79] C. T. C. Wall, Periodic projective resolutions, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 39 (1979), 509–553.

# Classification of space forms

- [80] W. Browder, Free  $Z_p$ -actions on homotopy spheres, Topology of Manifolds (Proc. Inst., Univ. of Georgia, Athens, Ga., 1969), Markham, Chicago, Ill., 1970, pp. 217–226.
- [81] W. Browder, Cobordism invariants, the Kervaire invariant and fixed point free involutions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 178 (1973), 193–225.
- [82] W. Browder and G. R. Livesay, Fixed point free involutions on homotopy spheres, Tôhoku Math. J. (2) 25 (1973), 69–87.
- [83] W. Browder, T. Petrie, and C. T. C. Wall, The classification of free actions of cyclic groups of odd order on homotopy spheres, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 77 (1971), 455–459.
- [84] S. E. Cappell and J. L. Shaneson, On 4-dimensional s-cobordisms, J. Differential Geom. 22 (1985), 97–115.
- [85] S. E. Cappell and J. L. Shaneson, Smooth nontrivial 4-dimensional scobordisms, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 17 (1987), 141-143.
- [86] S. E. Cappell and J. L. Shaneson, On four-dimensional s-cobordisms. II, Comment. Math. Helv. 64 (1989), 338–347.
- [87] H. Geiges and C. B. Thomas, Almost linear actions by finite groups on  $S^{2n-1}$ , Proceedings of the Kirbyfest (Berkeley, CA, 1998), Geom. Topol. Monogr., Vol. 2, Geom. Topol. Publ., Coventry, 1999, pp. 135–156 (electronic).

- [88] H. Geiges and C. B. Thomas, Finite group actions on the 7-sphere, Enseign. Math. (2) 46 (2000), 403–410.
- [89] I. Hambleton and I. Madsen, Local surgery obstructions and space forms, Math. Z. 193 (1986), 191–214.
- [90] M. W. Hirsch and J. Milnor, Some curious involutions of spheres, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 70 (1964), 372–377.
- [91] S. Kwasik and R. Schultz, On s-cobordisms of metacyclic prism manifolds, Invent. Math. 97 (1989), 523–552.
- [92] S. Kwasik and R. Schultz, Desuspension of group actions and the ribbon theorem, Topology 27 (1988), 443–457.
- [93] S. Kwasik and R. Schultz, Visible surgery, four-dimensional s-cobordisms and related questions in geometric topology, K-Theory 9 (1995), 323–352.
- [94] S. Kwasik and R. Schultz, Fake spherical space forms of constant positive scalar curvature, Comment. Math. Helv. 71 (1996), 1–40.
- [95] S. Kwasik and R. Schultz, On  $h\mbox{-}{\rm cobordisms}$  of spherical space forms, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 127 (1999), 1525–1532.
- [96] E. Laitinen and I. Madsen, Topological classifications of  $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$  space forms, Algebraic topology, Aarhus 1978 (Proc. Sympos., Univ. Aarhus, Aarhus, 1978), Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 763, Springer, Berlin, 1979, pp. 235–261.
- [97] R. Lee, Piecewise-linear classification of some free  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -actions on  $S^{4k+3}$ , Michigan Math. J. 17 (1970), 149–159.
- [98] G. R. Livesay and C. B. Thomas, Free  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  and  $\mathbb{Z}_3$  actions on homotopy spheres, Topology 7 (1968), 11–14.
- [99] G. R. Livesay and C. B. Thomas, Involutions on homotopy spheres, Proc. Conf. on Transformation Groups (New Orleans, La., 1967), Springer, New York, 1968, pp. 143–147.
- [100] T. Macko and C. Wegner, On fake lens spaces with fundamental group of order a power of 2, Algebr. Geom. Topol. 9 (2009), 1837–1883.
- [101] T. Macko and C. Wegner, On the classification of fake lens spaces, Forum Math. 23 (2011), 1053–1091.
- [102] I. Madsen, Smooth spherical space forms, Geometric applications of homotopy theory (Proc. Conf., Evanston, Ill., 1977), I, Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 657, Springer, Berlin, 1978, pp. 303–352.
- [103] I. Madsen, On the space of manifold structures for lens spaces, Indian J. Math. 25 (1983), 277–304.

- [104] I. Madsen, Reidemeister torsion, surgery invariants and spherical space forms, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 46 (1983), 193–240.
- $[105] \ I. \ Madsen, \ Spherical \ space forms in the dimension equal to the period. \ I, \\ Trudy \ Mat. \ Inst. \ Steklov. \ 154 \ (1983), \ 151-179, \ Topology \ (Moscow, \ 1979).$
- [106] J. Milnor, Some free actions of cyclic groups on spheres, Differential Analysis, Bombay Colloq., 1964, Oxford University Press, London, 1964, pp. 37–42.
   [107] C. P. Thomas, Classification of free actions by some metacyclic groups on
- [107] C. B. Thomas, Classification of free actions by some metacyclic groups on  $S^{2n-1}$ , Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 13 (1980), 405–418.
- [108] C. B. Thomas, Almost linear actions by  $SL_2(p)$  on  $S^{2n-1}$ , Forum Math. 9 (1997), 751–760.
- [109] C. M. Young, Normal invariants of lens spaces, Canad. Math. Bull. 41 (1998), 374–384.

# Topological Euclidean space forms

- [110] A. Adem and J. H. Smith, Periodic complexes and group actions, Ann. of Math. (2) 154 (2001), 407–435.
- [111] D. R. Anderson and E. K. Pedersen, Semifree topological actions of finite groups on spheres, Math. Ann. 265 (1983), 23–44.
   [112] F. W. G. W. L. G. R. W. W. G. R. W. R. W
- [112] F. X. Connolly and S. Prassidis, Groups which act freely on  $\mathbb{R}^m \times S^{n-1}$ , Topology 28 (1989), 133–148.
- [113] F. T. Farrell, An extension of Tate cohomology to a class of infinite groups,J. Pure Appl. Algebra 10 (1977/78), 153–161.
- [114] F. T. Farrell and W. C. Hsiang, The topological-Euclidean space form problem, Invent. Math. 45 (1978), 181–192.
- [115] F. T. Farrell and C. W. Stark, Cocompact spherical-Euclidean space form groups of infinite VCD, Bull. London Math. Soc. 25 (1993), 189–192.
- [116] I. Hambleton and I. Madsen, Semifree actions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with one fixed point, Current trends in algebraic topology, Part 2 (London, Ont., 1981), CMS Conf. Proc., Vol. 2, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1982, pp. 89–133.
- [117] I. Hambleton and I. Madsen, Actions of finite groups on  $\mathbb{R}^{n+k}$  with fixed set  $\mathbb{R}^k$ , Canad. J. Math. 38 (1986), 781–860.
- [118] I. Hambleton and E. K. Pedersen, Bounded surgery and dihedral group actions on spheres, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 4 (1991), 105–126.
- [119] I. Hambleton and E. K. Pedersen, Non-linear similarity revisited, Prospects in topology (Princeton, NJ, 1994), Ann. of Math. Stud., Vol. 138, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1995, pp. 157–174.

- [120] I. Hambleton and E. K. Pedersen, Compactifying infinite group actions, Geometry and topology: Aarhus (1998), Contemp. Math., Vol. 258, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2000, pp. 203–211.
- [121] I. Hambleton and E. K. Pedersen, Topological equivalence of linear representations of cyclic groups, I, Ann. of Math. (2) 161 (2005), 61–104.
- [122] R. S. Kulkarni, Fundamental groups of homogeneous space forms, Math. Ann. 234 (1978), 51–60.
- [123] R. S. Kulkarni, Proper actions and pseudo-Riemannian space forms, Adv. in Math. 40 (1981), 10–51.

# Further topics

- [124] I. Hambleton, Some examples of free actions on products of spheres, Topology 45 (2006), 735–749.
- [125] I. Hambleton, A remark about dihedral group actions on spheres, Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 43 (2011), 75–78.
- [126] I. Hambleton, S. Pamuk, and E. Yalçın, Equivariant CW-complexes and the orbit category, Comment. Math. Helv. 88 (2013), 369–425.
- [127] I. Hambleton and Ö. Ünlü, Examples of free actions on products of spheres, Q. J. Math. 60 (2009), 461–474.
- [128] I. Hambleton and Ö. Ünlü, Free actions of finite groups on  $S^n \times S^n$ , Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 362 (2010), 3289–3317.
- [129] L. Jones, The converse to the fixed point theorem of P. A. Smith, I, Ann. of Math. (2) 94 (1971), 52–68.
- [130] R. S. Kulkarni, Pseudofree actions and Hurwitz's 84(g-1) theorem, Math. Ann. 261 (1982), 209–226.
- [131] R. Oliver, Fixed-point sets of group actions on finite acyclic complexes, Comment. Math. Helv. 50 (1975), 155–177.
- [132] R. Oliver, Free compact group actions on products of spheres, Algebraic topology, Aarhus 1978 (Proc. Sympos., Univ. Aarhus, Aarhus, 1978), Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 763, Springer, Berlin, 1979, pp. 539–548.
- $[133]\,$  E. Stein, Free actions on products of spheres, Michigan Math. J. 26 (1979), 187-193.